

# Veterinary Drug Residues in Processed Meats — Potential Health Risk

A Review of the Scientific Literature

M. Ellin Doyle, Ph.D. Food Research Institute University of Wisconsin–Madison Madison, Wisconsin 53706 medoyle@wisc.edu

#### Table of Contents

Introduction	1
Suggested Adverse Effects of Veterinary Drug Residues	2
Identification of Drugs as Potentially Important Residues	3
Potential Adverse Effects	5
Penicillin	5
Tetracyclines	5
Sulfonamides (sulfadimethoxine, sulfamethazine, sulfamethoxazole)	6
Neomycin	6
Gentamicin	6
Flunixin	6
Streptomycin	7
Arsenicals	7
Summary	7
References Cited	8

## Introduction

Veterinary drugs are used to treat disease and improve health in animals as pharmaceuticals are in humans. Since the discovery and development of the first antibiotics prior to the Second World War, these drugs have played an important role in veterinary and human medicine. Experiments conducted 50 years ago showed that low, subtherapeutic levels of antibiotics could increase feed efficiency and growth in farm animals and this has led to the widespread incorporation of antibiotics into animal feeds. Subtherapeutic levels of antibiotics have been shown to reduce the incidence or severity of a number of animal diseases. It has been suggested that they also prevent irritation of the intestinal lining and improve digestive processes and metabolic processes throughout the animal. In addition to positive effects on growth and efficiency, there are associated reductions in excretion of nitrogen, phosphorus, and manure by some farm animals.

However, the potential for widespread use of agricultural antibiotics to provoke development of antibiotic-resistant bacteria has stimulated intense debate. Antibiotic-resistant strains of bacteria known to be foodborne pathogens, including *Salmonella* spp., *E. coli*, and *Campylobacter* spp, have been isolated from farm animals (1-3, 6, 7, 11, 12, 17-19, 27). These resistant bacteria could cause human diseases that are difficult to treat. In fact, a recent report found that a multi-state outbreak of a multi-drug resistant strain of *Salmonella enterica* serotype Typhimurium DT104 was associated with ground beef (16). Even if the antibiotic-resistant bacteria in meat animals are not human pathogens, they may pass their resistance genes to other, pathogenic bacteria (2, 35, 40).

Moreover, there has been some concern about carryover of veterinary drugs into meat, eggs, and milk and the possible adverse effects of residues on people consuming these foods. Surveillance programs do detect drug residues in a small percentage of samples. Withdrawal periods, ranging from a few days to a few weeks, are recommended for approved animal drugs. These times vary according to the drug used, dosage, route of administration, and animal species and are defined as the time required for 99% of the animals in a population (treated according to label instructions) to be free of drug residues above the tolerance level. Failure to adhere to these recommended periods is reported to be the primary cause of violative levels of veterinary drugs in food (*37*).

## Suggested Adverse Effects of Veterinary Drug Residues

A number of possible adverse health effects of veterinary drug residues have been suggested. These include the following:

- Allergic/toxic reactions to residues.
- Chronic toxic effects occurring with prolonged exposure to low levels of antibiotics.
- Development of antibiotic-resistant bacteria in treated animals. These bacteria might then cause difficult-to-treat human infections.
- Disruption of normal human flora in the intestine. The bacteria that usually live in the intestine act as a barrier to prevent incoming pathogenic bacteria from getting established and causing disease. Antibiotics might reduce total numbers of these bacteria or selectively kill some important species.

Veterinary drug residues in meat have been reported to cause toxic or allergic reactions in humans although such reports are uncommon. The most notable recent occurrence involved consumption of Mexican beef containing residues of the illegal growth promoter, clenbuterol. During December 2005, at least 225 people in Jalisco reported symptoms of trembling, headache, and malaise after consuming beef or beef liver containing residues of this drug (*41*). Another outbreak associated with clenbuterol in beef affected at least 125 people in Spain in 1990. In the past, there have been other reports of human illness attributed to consumption of meat from animals that had been treated with hormone implants. In some cases these were attributed to consumption of tissue near or at the location of a hormone implant; in other cases, there was not enough data to prove that hormone residues caused illness (*55*).

A few reports indicate that sensitive individuals may experience allergic reactions to antibiotic residues, particularly penicillin residues, in meat. Anaphylactic reactions have been reported to result from consumption of beef or pork containing penicillin (26, 47). It is possible that some minor reactions, such as skin rashes, may also have occurred but these have not been reported. Estimates of the prevalence of drug sensitivity vary but are estimated to be about 7% in the general population. However, not all of these people experience severe symptoms, and residue levels detected in meat are likely to be below the threshold that would induce a hypersensitive response (26, 46, 54).

## Identification of Drugs as Potentially Important Residues

There are no clear-cut data available from the government or other sources on how much of each drug is administered to each class of animals (chickens, turkeys, swine and cattle) in the U.S. on an annual basis. Therefore, to get an idea of which drugs are more frequently used, or at least which are detected most often in carcasses or meat, information was gathered from several sources: FSIS recalls and residue monitoring plans, FDA warning letters concerning residues detected in animals brought for slaughter, and published studies on the prevalence of drug-resistant bacteria in different animals. These drugs would probably be the most likely to be detected in meat.

Only one recall of a packaged meat product that might contain violative drug residues was found on the FSIS web site. This involved sausage and bologna from a Pennsylvania firm in 2001. Penicillin and sulfadimethoxine were detected in meats used to produce these products. No reports of illnesses or adverse reactions were associated with these products.

Results from the 2003 FSIS National Residue Monitoring Plan (Tables 1 and 2) indicate that penicillin and sulfonamide drugs were most commonly detected at violative levels in swine and cattle. Neomycin and gentamicin were also detected in a number of cattle, particularly calves. Other drugs detected in cattle and swine included tilmicosin, flunixin, and tetracyclines. Arsenicals were detected in poultry. Data from 1996 indicated the percentage of violative residues accounted for by each drug: CAST (calf antibiotic sulfa test), 32%; penicillin, 20%; oxytetracycline, 10%; sulfamethazine plus sulfadimethoxine, 10%; tetracycline, 8%; gentamicin, 6%; neomycin, 3%; other, 7% (44).

Warning letters sent by FDA to cattle producers with animals containing violative residues were tallied for 2003–2005. Numbers of animals in violation and ranges of concentrations of drugs detected in muscle, liver and kidney were tabulated (Table 3). Penicillin, sulfonamides, gentamicin, flunixin, and neomycin were most often detected in violation. Other drugs detected were tetracyclines, tilmicosin and ivermectin.

	Monitoring Program			Enforcement Program					
Residues				FSIS Lab	SOS	STOP		FAST	
	Cattle	Swine	Turkey	Cattle	Swine	Cattle	Swine	Cattle	
penicillin	1	1		7		39	4	628	
neomycin	30					2		405	
gentamicin sulfate	3			6		6		230	
erythromycin	1								
chlortetracycline		1					1		
tylosin								5	
tilmicosin				3		4		37	
tetracycline						1		22	
oxytetracycline				4		4		60	
arsenicals			1						
sulfamethazine	3	3		5	10			90	
sulfadimethoxine	6			4		6		225	
ivermectin	1								
sulfadiazine	1								
sulfamethoxazole	1							3	
flunixin	2							113	

Table 1. 2003 FSIS National Residue Monitoring Plan (# violations detected) (20, 21)

SOS = sulfa on site; STOP = swab test on premises; FAST = fast antimicrobial screen test

Corresponding author: M. Ellin Doyle, Ph.D., medoyle@wisc.edu http://fri.wisc.edu/docs/pdf/FRIBrief\_VetDrgRes.pdf

Residues	Cattle	Swine	Turkey
penicillin	675	5	0
neomycin	437		
gentamicin sulfate	245		
erythromycin	1		
chlortetracycline		2	
tylosin	5		
tilmicosin	44		
tetracycline	23		
oxytetracycline	68		
arsenicals	0	0	1
sulfamethazine	98	13	
sulfadimethoxine	241		
ivermectin	1		
sulfamethoxazole	4		
sulfadoxine	11		
flunixin	115		

Table 2. Total Positive results from 2003 National Residue Monitoring Program

Table 3. Warning letters sent by FDA 2003–2005 for cattle found to contain violative drug residues at slaughter

	# animals cited			Range of concentrations [ppm]			
Drugs	'05	'04	'03	Kidney	Liver	Muscle	
Dihydrostreptomycin	3			4.19-6.37			
Flunixin	4	17	14	0.125–14.12			
Gentamicin	4	14	13	0.19–106.54	0.297-5.0	0.32	
Ivermectin		0	1			252.7 ppb	
Neomycin	11	22	4	0.02-443.39	15.27	detectable	
Oxytetracycline/tetracycline	1	7	8	14.83–154.7	6.1-48.17	2.86-42.88	
Penicillin	24	37	55	0.06-18.68	0.06-0.80	0.12-0.83	
Sulfadimethoxine / sulfamethazine	17	22	49	4.93-6.1	0.10-52.33	0.1-54.91	
Tilmicosin	4	2	11	2.2-28.17	1.44-38.96	0.94-13.19	

Data from studies of antibiotic-resistant bacteria isolated from meat (reported in papers published 2000–2005) were examined (8, 10, 13, 22, 28, 38, 39, 42, 43, 49–51, 56, 57). The hypothesis was that the greater the amount of a drug used, the more likely bacteria would develop resistance to it. Not all reports tested for resistance to all the drugs that were likely to have been used, but an attempt has been made to list the drugs most frequently associated with resistance in bacteria from different meats:

Beef:	tetracycline > streptomycin = sulfamethoxazole > ampicillin > chloramphenicol > cephalothin
Pork:	tetracycline > streptomycin = sulfamethoxazole > ampicillin > chloramphenicol > gentamicin
Chicken:	tetracycline > sulfa > streptomycin = cephalothin > ampicillin > chloramphenicol > gentamicin
Turkey:	sulfamethoxazole > tetracycline > streptomycin > ampicillin > cephalothin > gentamicin

From a consideration of all these sources, the following drugs were considered as the most likely to be detected in meat:

Penicillin (including ampicillin) Tetracycline (including chlortetracycline and oxytetracycline) Sulfonamides (including sulfadimethoxine and sulfamethazine and sulfamethoxazole) Neomycin Gentamicin Flunixin Streptomycin Arsenicals

Residues of all veterinary drugs are higher in liver and/or kidney tissue as compared to muscle tissue. Analyses have shown that residue levels of some antibiotics can be different in different poultry muscle tissues (48). Pharmacokinetic models have been developed to describe metabolism and distribution of drugs in different animals. These models can also be used to estimate withdrawal times required to deplete drug levels in different tissues (4, 5, 9, 14, 20, 21, 23-25, 36, 37, 52, 53).

## **Potential Adverse Effects**

### Penicillin

Penicillin derivatives ( $\beta$ -lactam antibiotics) are widely used in cattle, swine and poultry to treat infections and as feed or drinking water additives to prevent some diseases. Penicillin is usually cleared rapidly from the blood via the kidneys and into the urine. Results cited by JECFA in 1990 indicated that penicillin residues in kidney and liver (as determined by HPLC) were about 100 times higher than those in muscle (29).

Allergic reactions were considered by JECFA to be the determining factor for safety evaluation of residues (29). Overall prevalence of allergy to penicillin in different populations has been estimated at 3–10%. There has been no evidence that exposure to penicillin residues in food caused sensitization to penicillin, but there have been a few adequately documented cases of persons with known sensitivity to penicillin suffering an allergic reaction when exposed to food containing penicillin residues. It has been estimated that 10 IU (0.6  $\mu$ g) could cause an allergic reaction in a sensitive individual. As little as 0.01 IU/ml of milk could cause an allergic reaction in a very sensitive individual (54). However this may vary with the individual and the type of food (which may affect absorption of the drug). Some reactions were reportedly caused by ingestion of <40  $\mu$ g of the drug. In two cases, anaphylactic reactions were observed in people with known hypersensitivity to penicillin, after consuming steak (in 1984) and after consuming pork (in 1972) (58).

JECFA estimated that if residues in meat (including liver and kidney) were at the MRL (maximum residue limit) of 0.05 ppm and for milk were 0.004 ppm, the maximum daily intake of benzylpenicillin from residues would total 29  $\mu$ g (15  $\mu$ g from muscle, 5  $\mu$ g from liver, 3  $\mu$ g from kidney, 6  $\mu$ g from milk) (29).

## Tetracyclines

Oxytetracycline is a broad-spectrum antibiotic used to treat a variety of infections and is also used as a growth promoter in animals. In studies with humans, about 60% of an ingested dose of oxytetracycline was absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract and was then widely distributed in the body, particularly to liver, kidney, bones and teeth. There appeared to be little, if any, metabolism of this drug in humans or animals and it was primarily excreted in the urine (29).

Toxicological studies indicated that this drug was not mutagenic, carcinogenic, or teratogenic. Some toxic effects were observed at high doses with a no-effect level of 18 mg/kg

body weight/day. At therapeutic doses, tetracyclines are occasionally associated with discolored teeth, allergic reactions, or peripheral blood changes (54). Oxytetracycline did induce antibiotic resistance in coliforms in the human intestine, and JECFA used this as its marker to determine acceptable levels of intake. A no-observed-effect level of 2 mg/person/day was observed (29).

There have been reports of allergic reactions to tetracyclines but no cases that have involved exposure to residues in foods (54).

JECFA estimated that if oxytetracycline residues in meat, milk and eggs were at the recommended MRL, the maximum daily intake of oxytetracycline from residues would total 260  $\mu$ g (30  $\mu$ g from muscle, 30  $\mu$ g from liver, 30  $\mu$ g from kidney, 150  $\mu$ g from milk, 0.5  $\mu$ g for fat, 20  $\mu$ g for eggs) (29).

## Sulfonamides (sulfadimethoxine, sulfamethazine, sulfamethoxazole)

Sulfonamides are generally used to treat a wide variety of bacterial and coccidial infections in food producing animals and are used as growth promoters in swine. Sulfonamides are metabolized by numerous pathways with the major metabolite in humans, swine and cattle being an acetyl derivative.

Data cited by JECFA indicate that the primary mechanism of toxicity of sulfonamides is associated with the thyroid–hypothalamus–pituitary axis and therefore toxicity should be measured by parameters of thyroid and pituitary function. The level causing no toxicological effects in rats was 40 ppm (2.2 mg/kg bw/day) (*30*).

Hypersensitivity reactions (primarily skin rashes) to therapeutic levels of sulfonamides have been reported but there have been no cases that involved exposure to residues in foods (45, 54).

#### Neomycin

Neomycin is an aminoglycoside antibiotic that is used to treat intestinal, respiratory, and wound infections and mastitis. Neomycin is not readily metabolized in animals or in humans (32).

Neomycin is not genotoxic. Like streptomycin and gentamicin, it has been reported to cause damage to the kidney and to hearing (54, 58). Recent data indicate that people with a rare mutation in their mitochondrial DNA may be more susceptible to deafness caused by aminoglycosides and other environmental factors than the general population. JECFA based its recommendation for a maximum daily intake of 3.6 mg/kg bw on results on effects of hearing loss in guinea pigs (34).

JECFA calculated that the estimated dose of neomycin from veterinary drug residues was 3 mg/day, primarily from milk (2.25 mg), kidney (0.5 mg), and muscle (0.15 mg). This was 3000 times less than the recommended oral therapeutic dose of neomycin (*34*).

#### Gentamicin

Gentamicin is an aminoglycoside antibiotic and, like streptomycin and neomycin, has been reported to cause damage to the kidney and to hearing (58) (see sections on neomycin and streptomycin). Gentamicin is depleted rapidly from muscle and fat but tends to persist in kidney and liver. Gentamicin is not readily metabolized in animals or in humans.

JECFA estimated that if gentamicin residues in meat were at the recommended MRL, the maximum daily intake of gentamicin from residues would total 785  $\mu$ g (30  $\mu$ g from muscle, 200  $\mu$ g from liver, 250  $\mu$ g from kidney, 5  $\mu$ g from fat, 300  $\mu$ g from milk) (*31*).

#### Flunixin

Flunixin is a non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drug (NSAID) and analgesic and is the only such drug allowed for use by veterinarians. Flunixin inhibits prostaglandin synthesis apparently by a mechanism similar to aspirin. Since NSAIDs are commonly used in human medicine, it is believed that flunixin is a relatively safe drug and residues should not be very harmful. However

it appears that this drug has not been tested adequately on humans, particularly for hypersensitivity reactions (USDA web site: www.usda.gov).

## Streptomycin

Streptomycin is an aminoglycoside antibiotic used for treating bacterial infections in foodproducing animals. Studies in animals and humans indicate that the drug is not readily absorbed from the gastrointestinal tract because of its high molecular mass and it is not metabolized significantly when injected. Oral doses of the drug are eliminated unchanged in the feces (*32, 33*).

Toxicological studies in animals indicated that the most sensitive end point was a decrease in weight, and this was used to set a maximum acceptable daily intake of 30  $\mu$ g/kg bw for humans (32, 33).

There have been reports of allergic reactions to streptomycin but no cases that have involved exposure to residues in foods (45). There has been one significant adverse effect in humans that occurred during treatment of pregnant women with tuberculosis. Infants of women treated with injections of 1 g streptomycin twice weekly during the first trimester suffered damage to a cranial nerve and this resulted in congenital deafness. Streptomycin may also have adverse effects on kidney function. Other than this, there was no evidence of adverse effects on fertility or reproductive performance in animals or humans (32, 33).

In light of the low levels of residues that might be present in foods and the low rate of absorption of oral doses of this drug, it is not expected that residues would affect fetal development (*32*, *33*).

#### Arsenicals

Arsenical compounds are used in swine and poultry as growth promoters and to prevent bacterial enteritis. The most commonly used arsenic compound for poultry is roxarsone. Most of the roxarsone is excreted unchanged, but some metabolites have been detected in hen urine. Little roxarsone is retained in poultry meat (FDA limit is 0.5 ppm in chicken muscle). (There is some concern about arsenic levels in poultry litter.)

Inorganic arsenic is a known carcinogen and may adversely affect the circulatory and nervous systems. Organic arsenic is generally less toxic and some arsenic compounds are considered harmless. A National Toxicology Program study of the effects of roxarsone on rats and mice found that diets containing 800 ppm roxarsone caused decreased body weight in mice; rats were more sensitive, showing lower body weights on diets containing 200–400 ppm roxarsone. There was equivocal evidence for carcinogenicity in male rats fed 100 ppm roxarsone for 2 years but no evidence of carcinogenicity in female rats and both sexes of mice (http://ntp.niehs.nih.gov/).

### Summary

Veterinary drug residues tend to be higher in liver and kidney than in muscle. Most meat samples tested do not have violative residues but there are occasional samples that do contain excessive amounts of these drugs. Usually these are a result of not observing the withdrawal period or from off-label use of an antibiotic (Table 4).

All antibiotics have the potential to cause allergic reactions; penicillins are most commonly implicated, affecting up to 10% of people receiving these drugs therapeutically. Sulfonamides may cause allergic reactions in up to 3% of those using these drugs. Other antibiotics are implicated less often. Allergic reactions may involve skin rashes or asthma and in the worst cases, anaphylactic shock. Concentrations of residual veterinary drugs in foods are not high enough to cause an initial hypersensitive reaction but may cause such an effect in a person who has already become sensitized to the drug. One study of 15 people known to be very sensitive to penicillin found that three reacted after drinking milk containing a total of 2.5  $\mu$ g penicillin, and two sensitive volunteers developed rashes after eating pork containing 0.02–0.04 ppm penicillin (15).

Some drugs have been shown to have adverse effects at high doses — much higher than residue levels detected in meats. These include hearing loss and kidney toxicity for neomycin, gentamicin, and streptomycin; possible carcinogenicity for arsenicals; and effects on thyroid and pituitary function by sulfonamides.

	Fat	Meat	Meat by-product	Liver	Kidney	Edible tissue		
Arsenic		0.5 <sup>bc</sup>	0.5 <sup>c</sup> , 2.0 <sup>b</sup>	2.0 <sup>c</sup>	2.0 <sup>c</sup>			
Flunixin		0.025 <sup>a</sup>		0.125 <sup>a</sup>				
Gentamicin	0.4 <sup>c</sup>	0.1 <sup>c</sup>		0.3 <sup>c</sup>	0.4 <sup>c</sup>	0.1 <sup>b</sup>		
Neomycin <sup>g</sup>	7.2 <sup>acf</sup>	1.2 <sup>acf</sup>		3.6 <sup>acf</sup>	7.2 <sup>ac</sup>			
Penicillin						$0.05^{\rm a}, 0.01^{\rm f}, 0^{\rm cd}$		
Ampicillin						0.01 <sup>ac</sup>		
Streptomycin	$0.5^{\text{acd}}$	0.5 <sup>acd</sup>	0.5 <sup>acd</sup>	$0.5^{\text{acd}}$	$2.0^{\mathrm{acd}}$	$0.5^{acd}$		
Sulfadimethoxine						0.1 <sup>ab</sup>		
Sulfamethazine						0.1 <sup>abc</sup>		
Tetracycline	12.0 <sup>bce</sup>	$2.0^{bce}$		6.0 <sup>bce</sup>	12.0 <sup>bce</sup>			
Chlortetracycline / Oxytetracycline	12.0 <sup>abc</sup>	2.0 <sup>abc</sup>		6.0 <sup>abc</sup>	12.0 <sup>abc</sup>			

<sup>a</sup>Cattle; <sup>b</sup>Poultry; <sup>c</sup>Swine; <sup>d</sup>Chicken only; <sup>e</sup>Calves; <sup>f</sup>Turkey only; <sup>g</sup>Zero tolerance for neomycin in veal calves

#### **References Cited**

- 1. Aarestrup FM. 2005. Veterinary drug usage and antimicrobial resistance in bacteria of animal origin. Basic Clin Pharmacol Toxicol 96:271-281.
- Alcaine SD, Sukhnanand SS, Warnick LD, Su WL, McGann P, McDonough P, and Wiedmann M. 2005. Ceftiofur-resistant Salmonella strains isolated from dairy farms represent multiple widely distributed subtypes that evolved by independent horizontal gene transfer. Antimicrob Agents Chemo 49:4061-4067.
- Altekruse SF, Elvinger F, Lee KY, Tollefson LK, Pierson FW, Eifert J, and Sriranganathan N. 2002. Antimicrobial susceptibilities of *Escherichia coli* strains from a turkey operation. J Am Vet Med Assoc 221:411-416.
- 4. **Baert K and De Backer P.** 2002. Disposition of sodium salicylate, flunixin and meloxicam after intravenous administration in broiler chickens. J Vet Pharmacol Therapeut **25**:449-453.
- 5. Baert K, De Baere S, Croubels S, and De Backer P. 2003. Pharmacokinetics and oral bioavailability of sulfadiazine and trimethoprim in broiler chickens. Vet Res Comm 27:301-309.
- 6. Beach JC, Murano EA, and Acuff GR. 2002. Serotyping and antibiotic resistance profiling of Salmonella in feedlot and nonfeedlot beef cattle. J Food Prot **65**:1694-1699.
- Belloc C, Lam DN, Pellerin JL, Beaudeau F, and Laval A. 2005. Effect of quinolone treatment on selection and persistence of quinolone-resistant *Escherichia coli* in swine faecal flora. J Appl Microbiol 99:954-959.
- 8. Boothe DH and Arnold JW. 2003. Resistance of bacterial isolates from poultry products to therapeutic veterinary antibiotics. J Food Prot **66**:94-102.
- Buur JL, Baynes RE, Craigmill AL, and Riviere JE. 2005. Development of a physiologic-based pharmacokinetic model for estimating sulfamethazine concentrations in swine and application to prediction of violative residues in edible tissues. Am J Vet Res 66:1686-1693.
- 10. Byrne CM, Erol I, Call JE, Kaspar CW, Buege DR, Hiemke CJ, Fedorka-Cray PJ, Benson AK, Wallace FM, and Luchansky JB. 2003. Characterization of *Escherichia coli* O157:H7 from

downer and healthy dairy cattle in the upper midwest region of the United States. Appl Environ Microbiol **69**:4683-4688.

- 11. **Bywater R, McConville M, Phillips I, and Shryock T.** 2005. The susceptibility to growthpromoting antibiotics of *Enterococcus faecium* isolates from pigs and chickens in Europe. J Antimicrob Chemother **56**:538-543.
- 12. Chapin A, Rule A, Gibson K, Buckley T, and Schwab K. 2005. Airborne multidrug-resistant bacteria isolated from a concentrated swine feeding operation. Environmental Health Perspectives 113(2):137-142.
- 13. Chen C, Zhao SH, White DG, Schroeder CM, Lu R, Yang HC, McDermott PF, Ayers S, and Meng JH. 2004. Characterization of multiple-antimicrobial-resistant Salmonella serovars isolated from retail meats. Appl Environ Microbiol **70**:1-7.
- 14. **Craigmill AL, Miller GR, Gehring R, Pierce AN, and Riviere JE.** 2004. Meta-analysis of pharmacokinetic data of veterinary drugs using the Food Animal Residue Avoidance Databank: oxytetracycline and procaine penicillin G. J Vet Pharmacol Therapeut **27**:343-353.
- Dayan AD. 1993. Allergy to antimicrobial residues in food assessment of the risk to man. Vet Microbiol 35:213-226.
- Dechet AM, Scallan E, Gensheimer K, Hoekstra R, Gunderman-King J, Lockett J, Wrigley D, Chege W, and Sobel J. 2006. Outbreak of multidrug-resistant *Salmonella enterica* serotype Typhimurium Definitive Type 104 infection linked to commercial ground beef, northeastern United States, 2003–2004. Clin Infect Dis 42:747-752.
- 17. Englen MD, Fedorka-Cray PJ, Ladely SR, and Dargatz DA. 2005. Antimicrobial resistance patterns of *Campylobacter* from feedlot cattle. J Appl Microbiol **99**:285-291.
- 18. **Fairchild AS, Grimes JL, Wineland MJ, and Jones FT.** 2000. The effect of hen age on antibiotic resistance of *Escherichia coli* isolates from turkey poults. J Appl Poultr Res **9**:487-495.
- 19. **Farnell MB, Donoghue AM, Cole K, Reyes-Herrera I, Blore PJ, and Donoghue DJ.** 2005. *Campylobacter* susceptibility to ciprofloxacin and corresponding fluoroquinolone concentrations within the gastrointestinal tracts of chickens. J Appl Microbiol **99**:1043-1050.
- 20. **Food Safety and Inspection Service.** 2006. 2003 National Residue Program Data Red Book. U. S. Department of Agriculture.
- 21. **Food Safety and Inspection Service.** 2006. 2005 National Residue Program Blue Book, Appendix II. U. S. Department of Agriculture.
- 22. Ge B, White DG, McDermott PF, Girard W, Zhao SH, Hubert S, and Meng JH. 2003. Antimicrobial-resistant *Campylobacter* species from retail raw meats. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:3005-3007.
- 23. Gehring R, Baynes RE, and Riviere JE. 2006. Application of risk assessment and management principles to the extralabel use of drugs in food-producing animals. J Vet Pharmacol Therap 29:5-14.
- 24. Gehring R, Baynes RE, Wang J, Craigmill AL, and Riviere JE. 2004. A web-based decision support system to estimate extended withdrawal intervals. Comput Electron Agr 44:145-151.
- 25. Gehring R, van der Merwe D, Pierce AN, Baynes RE, Craigmill AL, and Riviere JE. 2005. Multivariate meta-analysis of pharmacokinetic studies of ampicillin trihydrate in cattle. Am J Vet Res 66:108-112.
- 26. Gomes ER and Demoly P. 2005. Epidemiology of hypersensitivity drug reactions. Curr Opin Allerg Clin Immunol 5:309-316.
- 27. Hayes JR, English LL, Carr LE, Wagner DD, and Joseph SW. 2004. Multiple-antibiotic resistance of *Enterococcus* spp. isolated from commercial poultry production environments. Appl Environ Microbiol **70**:6005-6011.

- Hayes JR, English LL, Carter PJ, Proescholdt T, Lee KY, Wagner DD, and White DG. 2003. Prevalence and antimicrobial resistance of *Enterococcus* species isolated from retail meats. Appl Environ Microbiol 69:7153-7160.
- 29. JECFA (Joint Expert Committee on Food Additives). 1990. Evaluation of certain veterinary drug residues in food. WHO Technical Report Series **799**:37-44.
- 30. JECFA (Joint Expert Committee on Food Additives). 1990. Toxicological evaluation of certain veterinary drug residues in food. WHO Food Additives Series 25:79-97.
- 31. JECFA (Joint Expert Committee on Food Additives). 1995. Residues of some veterinary drugs in animals and foods. FAO Food and Nutrition paper 41:61-63.
- 32. JECFA (Joint Expert Committee on Food Additives). 1997. Toxicological evaluation of certain veterinary drug residues in food. WHO Food Additives Series **39**.
- 33. JECFA (Joint Expert Committee on Food Additives). 1998. Evaluation of certain veterinary drug residues in food. WHO Technical Report Series 879:25-44.
- 34. JECFA (Joint Expert Committee on Food Additives). 2003. Evaluation of certain veterinary drug residues in food. WHO Technical Report Series **918**:5-11.
- 35. Kim SH, Wei CI, and An HJ. 2005. Molecular characterization of multidrug-resistant *Proteus mirabilis* isolates from retail meat products. J Food Prot **68**:1408-1413.
- 36. Korsrud GO, Salisbury CDC, Rhodes CS, Papich MG, Yates WDG, Bulmer WS, Macneil JD, Landry DA, Lambert G, Yong MS, and Ritters L. 1998. Depletion of penicillin G residues in tissues, plasma, and injection sites of market pigs injected intramuscularly with procaine penicillin G. Food Additiv Contam 15:421-426.
- KuKanich B, Gehring R, Webb AI, Craigmill AL, and Riviere JE. 2005. Effect of formulation and route of administration on tissue residues and withdrawal times. J Am Vet Med Assoc 227:1574-1577.
- Larkin C, Poppe C, McNab B, McEwen B, Madhi A, and Odumeru J. 2004. Antibiotic resistance of Salmonella isolated from hog, beef, and chicken carcass samples from provincially inspected abattoirs in Ontario. J Food Prot 67:448-455.
- 39. LeJeune JT and Christie NP. 2004. Microbiological quality of ground beef from conventionallyreared cattle and 'raised without antibiotics' label claims. J Food Prot 67:1433-1437.
- 40. Lester CH, Frimodt-Moller N, Sorensen TL, Monnet DL, and Hammerum AA. 2006. In vivo transfer of the vanA resistance gene from an *Enterococcus faecium* isolate of animal origin to an *E. faecium* isolate of human origin in the intestines of human volunteers. Antimicrob Agents Chemother **50**:596-599.
- 41. **Martínez UZ.** 2005. Health official: clenbuterol cases rising. Miami Herald, Mexico Edition, 28 November 2005 (http://www.eluniversal.com.mx/miami/15989.html)
- 42. Nayak R, Stewart T, Wang RF, Lin J, Cerniglia CE, and Kenney PB. 2004. Genetic diversity and virulence gene determinants of antibiotic-resistant Salmonella isolated from preharvest turkey production sources. Int J Food Microbiol 91:51-62.
- 43. Olah PA, Sherwood JS, Elijah LM, Dockter MR, Doetkott C, Miller Z, and Logue CM. 2004. Comparison of antimicrobial resistance in Salmonella and *Campylobacter* isolated from turkeys in the Midwest USA. Food Microbiol **21**:779-789.
- 44. **Paige JC, Chaudry MH, and Pell FM.** 1999. Federal surveillance of veterinary drugs and chemical residues (with recent data). Vet Clin N Amer Food Anim Pract **15**:45-61.
- 45. **Paige JC, Tollefson L, and Miller MA.** 1999. Health implications of residues of veterinary drugs and chemicals in animal tissues. Vet Clin N Amer Food Anim Pract **15**:31-43.

Corresponding author: M. Ellin Doyle, Ph.D., <u>medoyle@wisc.edu</u> http://fri.wisc.edu/docs/pdf/FRIBrief\_VetDrgRes.pdf

- 46. **Paturkar AM, Waskar VS, Mokal KV, and Zende RJ.** 2005. Antimicrobial drug residues in meat and their public health significance a review. Ind J Anim Sci **75**:1103-1111.
- 47. Raison-Peyron N, Messaad D, Bousquet J, and Demoly P. 2001. Anaphylaxis to beef in penicillin-allergic patient. Allergy 56:796-797.
- 48. **Reyes-Herrera I, Schneider MJ, Cole K, Farnell MB, Blore PJ, and Donoghue DJ.** 2005. Concentrations of antibiotic residues vary between different edible muscle tissues in poultry. J Food Prot **68**:2217-2219.
- 49. Schroeder CM, Meng JH, Zhao SH, DebRoy C, Torcolini J, Zhao CW, McDermott PF, Wagner DD, Walker RD, and White DG. 2002. Antimicrobial resistance of *Escherichia coli* O26, O103, O111, O128, and O145 from animals and humans. Emerg Infect Dis 8:1409-1414.
- Schroeder CM, White DG, Ge BL, Zhang YF, McDermott PF, Ayers S, Zhao SH, and Meng JH. 2003. Isolation of antimicrobial-resistant *Escherichia coli* from retail meats purchased in Greater Washington, DC, USA. Int J Food Microbiol 85:197-202.
- 51. Schroeder CM, White DG, and Meng JH. 2004. Retail meat and poultry as a reservoir of antimicrobial-resistant *Escherichia coli*. Food Microbiol **21**:249-255.
- 52. Vanpoucke LSG and Vanpeteghem CH. 1994. Pharmacokinetics and tissue residues of sulfathiazole and sulfamethazine in pigs. J Food Prot **57**:796-801.
- 53. Vranic ML, Marangunich L, Courel HF, and Suarez AF. 2003. Estimation the withdrawal period for veterinary drugs used in food producing animals. Anal Chim Acta 483:251-257.
- 54. Waltner-Toews D and McEwen SA. 1994. Residues of antibacterial and antiparasitic drugs in foods of animal origin a risk assessment. Prev Vet Med 20:219-234.
- 55. Waltner-Toews D and McEwen SA. 1994. Residues of hormonal substances in foods of animal origin: a risk assessment. Prev Vet Med 20:235-247.
- 56. Wilson IG. 2003. Antibiotic resistance of *Campylobacter* in raw retail chickens and imported chicken portions. Epidemiol Infect **131**:1181-1186.
- 57. Wilson IG. 2004. Antimicrobial resistance of Salmonella in raw retail chickens, imported chicken portions, and human clinical specimens. J Food Prot **67**:1220-1225.
- 58. **Woodward KN**. 2004. The toxicity of particular veterinary drug residues, p. 175-223. *In* Watson DH (ed.), Pesticide, veterinary and other residues in food. Woodhead Publishing Ltd., New York.